California Tags & Other VIN Questions
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	Date:
	Sun, 08 Apr 2007 21:16:51 -0700

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	From:
	"Richard Hosmer" <rahosmer@citlink.net>   

	To:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>, healeys@autox.team.net


Steve,  My tricarb (firewall area absolutely untouched since new, in case anyone wanted to see how it was mounted) has a BMC-62 tag.

--Dick Hosmer

	From:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>   

	To:
	healeys@autox.team.net

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sun, 8 Apr 2007 19:27:54 -0700


Or, possibly in 1960 there wasn't a California state or anybody else's requirement to install the tags.  I only pay attention to BJ8s, so I don't know if there were any tags earlier than BMC-64 (anyone?).  There is only one car so far recorded in the registry with the BMC-64 tag.

--Steve Byers
HBJ8L/36666
BJ8 Registry
Havelock, NC

"Robert D. Hughes" <dhugh@tscnet.com>   wrote: << I have a 1965 BJ8 with a 65 plastic tag. …… >>

	Date:
	Sun, 08 Apr 2007 19:07:21 -0700

	To:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>, healeys@autox.team.net

	From:
	"Robert D. Hughes" <dhugh@tscnet.com>   

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye


I have a 1965 BJ8 with a 65 plastic tag. The car was dispatched to Compton, USA on 3 Nov 1964.  I also have a Sprite purchased by me in July 1960 in Redwood City, Calif, that does NOT have a plastic tag.  Perhaps different distributors did different things and there was not any state requirement.

--Robert Hughes
65 BJ8
60 AN5

BJ8Healeys wrote: << Hi, Randy - Thanks for another data point.  It has always been my understanding …… >>

	From:
	"Ron Fine" <RonFineEsq@earthlink.net>   

	To:
	"Randy Hicks" <Healey100M@gmail.com>, "BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>,  <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 12:17:55 -0700


My BN7 was manufactured in 1960 and shipped to Los Angeles.  It has a black plastic BMC 61 tag.

--Ron Fine

Randy Hicks wrote: << Steve, I feel that this is exactly what happened with my BJ8. It was manufacture  …… >>
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	From:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>   

	To:
	healeys@autox.team.net

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 08:06:34 -0700


     Yes, I understand that your car and Alan's suggest that the tags were installed at time of first sale.  I just would like to hear from someone who lived in California at the time and knows for sure who put the tags on, and when and why.   As mentioned before, the tags are an interesting bit of trivia; but the California DMV practice of adding the year to the VIN on the paperwork has caused problems for other authorities who only go by the tag on the firewall as the official identification of a car, regardless of what the paperwork says.

     Here's another DMV-created problem for you sports fans out there:  a guy in Arizona who has a properly registered BJ8 merely wanted to add his wife's name to the title.  When he showed up at the DMV, they ran a computer check, I guess, and learned that a car with the same VIN was registered in Wisconsin!  So, they won't let him change his title until HE gets the problem cleared up with the Wisconsin DMV.  His BMIHT certificate matching his title and the VIN plate on his car apparently means nothing to the AZ DMV.  The Wisconsin owner has been accommodating so far to help clear up the mistake (obviously, with her car), "confirming" that her VIN plate matches her title and providing her car's body number, but what real motivation does she have to help, since her car is legally already registered with WI DMV?  The body number, by the way, does not go with the VIN she is providing, as shown by the BJ8 registry data.  There once were two BJ8s in Tennessee, both registered with the DMV with the same VIN (as determined by the registry), and that didn't seem to cause the TN DMV problems!  One of these had been registered incorrectly since 1971.  Truly amazing!

--Steve Byers
HBJ8L/36666
BJ8 Registry
Havelock, NC  USA

Randy Hicks wrote: << Steve, in my case, it would appear that they were installed at "first sale" since my car ...... >>

	From:
	"Randy Hicks" <Healey100M@gmail.com>   

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 10:41:14 -0400

	To:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>, healeys@autox.team.net


Steve, in my case, it would appear that they were installed at "first sale" since my car arrived in fall of '64 which would have made it a '65. They may have been required for title/registration by the State of CA?

--Randy Hicks
'56 100M
'62 Bn7 MkII
'65 BJ8
'53 MGTD

On Apr 7, 2007, at 10:32 AM, BJ8Healeys wrote: << ……  When were they installed:  when the cars arrived, or during first sale?  Was the requirement for "year of manufacture" or "model year"? …… >>

	From:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>   

	To:
	healeys@autox.team.net

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 07:32:14 -0700


Hi, Randy -  Thanks for another data point.  It has always been my understanding (and assumption) that the REQUIREMENT that the car's manufacturer and year of manufacture be identified on it was imposed by the State of California, and that in order to comply with this requirement (as they complied with other requirements for license plate illumination, separate turn signal and parking lamps, and earless knockoffs in Europe and later in America) in the easiest and cheapest manner BMC started putting these tags on during manufacture if a car was intended for California.  Based on your and Alan's input, that assumption may be incorrect.  It's entirely possible that it was the dealers who installed the tags.  That leads me to wonder who produced them and paid for them -- the state of California?  The dealers?  When were they installed:  when the cars arrived, or during first sale?  Was the requirement for "year of manufacture" or "model year"?

If anyone has any idea exactly why, when, and by whom the tags were installed, I would like to know.  It would be one more obscure fact we could learn about the early history of these cars.

Thanks,  --Steve Byers
HBJ8L/36666
BJ8 Registry
Havelock, NC  USA

"Randy Hicks" <Healey100M@gmail.com>  wrote: << Steve, I feel that this is exactly what happened with my BJ8. …… >>

	From:
	"Randy Hicks" <Healey100M@gmail.com>   

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 10:12:31 -0400

	To:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>, "Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>


Steve, I feel that this is exactly what happened with my BJ8.  It was manufacture 8/19 - 9/23/1964 (#285XX) and sent to Compton, CA on 10/2/64.   White car with Red interior.  It has the black BMC 66 tag, but is also registered as a 1966.   I have the feeling the car sat on the lot and then the dealer registered it as a 1966 even though it is an early single light car.  Possibly a demonstrator but it only had 23,800 miles on it when I bought it 2 1/2 years ago.  It has always been my understanding that the black BMC tags were on CA cars only and required by the state of CA and not factory installed.   It would not make sense for the factory to install this on my car built in '64.

--Randy Hicks
'56 100M
'62 Bn7 MkII
'65 BJ8
'53 MGTD

" Steve Byers-BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>  wrote:  << ……   Seems like the dealership that sold your car sort of bent the rules by installing the '66 tag.  But since all BJ8s pretty much looked alike regardless of year, who would ever know (or care?).  Also, who would know or care what the tag meant anyway, so why change it from '65 to '66? …… >>
	From:
	"63AHBJ7" <63AHBJ7@comcast.net>   

	To:
	"Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 19:54:49 -0600


" Steve Byers-BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>  wrote:  << …… The "year" of Healeys causes all kinds of confusion, since most of the rest of the world except the U.S. and Canada go by the actual calendar year of manufacture, whereas in North America we are accustomed to the "new model year" beginning in September/October. …… >>

Without a doubt, Steve.   I bought my Frogeye in Monterey, CA in Feb of '62 which of course "made it a '62" which, as we all now know was impossible.  I got back to DC several months later (having sold it) and was telling an old buddy that I had had a '62 which he vehemently argued with me (he was a BIG LBC nut).  And that was "the rest of the story"!!<G>

--Ed

	From:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>   

	To:
	"Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 17:32:32 -0700


Hi, Alan -  Your response makes me realize the possibility that the black & white plastic tags with BMC-61, BMC-66, etc. might not have been installed by the factory in England, but perhaps by the dealers in California.  

Your BJ8 was manufactured 28 - 29 July 1964 and despatched on 7 August 1964 to Compton, CA.  The "year" of Healeys causes all kinds of confusion, since most of the rest of the world except the U.S. and Canada go by the actual calendar year of manufacture, whereas in North America we are accustomed to the "new model year" beginning in September/October.  Thus, I expect your car arrived at the dealership just in time for the "new model year" of 1965, so I would not be surprised if it was registered as a 1965 car.  

I am aware of those rare instances where a car sat around on the lot long enough, apparently, to make it unsold to the next "model year" (imagine that today!).  This could explain why your car has a BMC-66 tag instead of the expected BMC-64.  If so, then the car probably had a BMC-65 tag that was removed to sell it as a '66.  However, if the tag was installed by the factory then they could only install one with the year of manufacture, not year of first sale.  

Seems like the dealership that sold your car sort of bent the rules by installing the '66 tag.  But since all BJ8s pretty much looked alike regardless of year, who would ever know (or care?).  Also, who would know or care what the tag meant anyway, so why change it from '65 to '66?  

Another possibility is that the BMC-66 tag might not have been the original one on your car.  And another question:  all of the tags I have seen have been identical in size, shape, and construction.  Therefore, I would surmise that the dealers had a common source for them.  What more logical place than the BMC factory?  But if BMC made them, why not install them on the car before shipment, since they were supposed to indicate year of manufacture?

Cheers!  --Steve Byers

HBJ8L/36666
BJ8 Registry
Havelock, NC  USA

Alan Seigrist  wrote: << Steve - That's funny, I have a California BJ8 and you are right, I have had both those …… >>

	Date:
	Sat, 7 Apr 2007 07:10:14 +0800

	From:
	"Alan Seigrist Blue 100" <healey.nut@gmail.com>   

	To:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>, "Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye


Steve -  That's funny, I have a California BJ8 and you are right, I have had both those problems you describe.  My original California Registration (still active, but non operating as the car is in HK), has 66 written in front of the reg number.  It caused so many problems that the DMV eventually amended my title for the car.  It also caused major headaches when importing the car into Hong Kong.  Also, those little black tags would use the US convention for model year, which typically was the year it was sold, not the year it was made, so I have a '64 BJ8 with a BMC-66 black tag on it... the car was originally white so it probably sat on the dealer lot for a good year or so....

Cheers,  --Alan
'52 A90
'53 BN1
'64 BJ8

Steve Byers wrote: << Hi, Jim - Congratulations on your new Bugeye!  I have a 1275 Midget, which is basically …… >>

	From:
	"BJ8Healeys" <sbyers@ec.rr.com>   

	To:
	"Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	RE: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 13:02:47 -0700


Hi, Jim -  Congratulations on your new Bugeye!  I have a 1275 Midget, which is basically the same car with a little larger engine, so I know how much fun they are.

I would guess your Bugeye was originally shipped from the factory to California.  The BMC-61 tag is the clue.  It was apparently a requirement in California that the manufacturer and year of manufacture be identified somewhere on the car.  Since there was no code in the VIN for it and it wasn't identified anywhere else, BMC added the plastic tag to comply with the requirement.  I know that for BJ8s, only cars that were despatched to California got the special tag.  Another peculiarity of cars originally registered in California is that (for many of them, anyway), the title/registration documentation added the year of manufacture prior to the factory-issued VIN:  e.g. 66HBJ8LXXXXX.  This has caused problems for at least one BJ8 owner who imported a California car into Canada and had trouble registering it with the authorities because the paperwork didn't match the VIN tag!  As another plug for the benefits of a registry, an "official" letter on registry letterhead was enough to get that resolved.

I've never seen the Bugeye VIN, so don't know if they changed those, too.

The AN5-AN9 registry is kept by Rick Moses

1421 E Chocolate Ave., Hershey, PA 17033

Sorry, don't have an e-mail address or phone number.

Cheers!  --Steve Byers

HBJ8L/36666
BJ8 Registry
Havelock, NC

	From:
	"63AHBJ7" <63AHBJ7@comcast.net>   

	To:
	"Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 13:06:10 -0600


First, CONGRATS on your new "baby"!!!

AN5-501 -  From 3/31/58 to 2/61

Is all I have handy, Jim.  My Horler's is in Office.

Also, you might want to join bugeye@yahoo.com and spridgets@autox.team.net
--Ed

	From:
	"Walt & Zoe Harrison" <wzharrison@comcast.net>   

	To:
	"James Sailer" <BJ8Healey@msn.com>, "Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Re: Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 11:49:33 -0700


Hi Jim,  Congrats on your new Sprite.  Terry Horler's book "Original Sprite & Midget" lists changes by chassis number.  The last complete Sprite assembled at Abington was #49584 in November 1960.  Chassis #42200 was built in July 1060 and #48338 was built in October 1960.  So, my guess is your chassis #42390 was built in July 1960.

--Walt Harrison
AN5L-39648 (May 11-12, 1960)

	From:
	"Peter Svilans" <peter.svilans@rogers.com>   

	To:
	healeys@autox.team.net

	Subject:
	Vin numbers- Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 14:33:29 -0400


Hi Jim;  Congratulations !

First Sprite (# 501) March 31 1958

Last Abingdon- built Bugeye (# 49584) November 1960.

Last chassis number allocation (#50116) Feb 1961 for Innocenti Spyder, semi knocked-down.

Closest production change to your #42390 :  #42200 July 1960  (tool bag change, revised hub cap lever, spark plug box spanner)

Best regards,  --Peter
	From:
	"James Sailer" <BJ8Healey@msn.com>   

	To:
	"Healey List" <healeys@autox.team.net>

	Subject:
	Vin Numbers - Bugeye

	Date:
	Fri, 6 Apr 2007 11:38:44 -0600


hi folks.    Got my new to me bugeye home.  It is AN5L42390 with a BMC black plastic tag under part of the Vin plate (BMC 61).  Anyone know the number range of Bugeye serial numbers?  (I will be sending for the BMIHT certificate.)

Thanks.   --Jim Sailer
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	To:
	"Bullwinkle" <yd3@nvc.net>, "TABC Group" <mg-tabc@yahoogroups.com>

	From:
	WDHarmer@aol.com   

	Date:
	Sat, 17 Mar 2007 14:30:49 -0400

	Subject:
	Re: [mg-tabc] MGs For Sale


From 1964 thru 1967, I sold new MGBs here in San Diego. When the model year changed the importer asked for all the unsold ID numbers, then issued "prefix" tags to be affixed to the number plate showing the car was a year newer. We had a grey w/red roadster that was originally a '63 and we finally sold as a '65. BMC just sent the new tag (twice) even though the car had been on our lot for nearly 2 years. It is just part the lore of our little cars.


The Alfa Romeo distributor "lost" a Sprint Speciale in their warehouse for over 5 years. When they found it, they put it on the Pasadena showroom at a premium price for the low mileage.


--Dan Harmer
San Diego, CA
'48 TC #7122 - about to celebrate it's 59th birthday! (March 31)

